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Introduction. Iraq has endured decades.of collapsing hopes and accumulating tragedy. It is
numbing to consider the waste of so much human and resource potential. Saddam’s ambitions
conflicted with the region and the international community. True to his name, he too often chose
confrontation over cooperation. Ultimately these decisions led to total collapse.

Weapons of Mass Destruction (WMD) were an integral element in the range of tools Saddam
drew upon to advance his ambitions. WMD was not an end in itself. Therefore, to examine mean-
ingfully WMD in Iraq means examining the leadership of Iraq concomitantly.

The Iraq experience with WMD stretches over 30 years and three wars. Thousands of victims
died on battlefields, and civilians have been gassed in domestic terror campaigns. War and sanc-
tions have ground civil society down to rudimentary levels. The most talented of Iraq have faced
excruciating dilemmas—to comply with the Regime’s directions or risk careers, their lives, and
the lives of loved ones. Chronic, systemic fear on the part of the best and the brightest was a
feature of the intellectual elite.

The international community has struggled with the Regime. Various attempts to coerce, co-opt,
placate, or ignore Iraq produced confusion and inconstancy. It is understandable that Saddam
may not have understood where international forces were headed. Indeed, the international com-
munity’s focus on Iraqg and WMD was affected by serendipity as well as considered national poli-
cies. Had the events of 11 September 2001 not occurred, Saddam might well be still in power.
But, he deeply miscalculated one last time and curtailed his own leadership.

Saddam, his family, and cronies rose, enriched themselves, became corrupt; combusted, and
collapsed. Saddam’s huge commitment to weapons technology consumed the best and brightest
and led them to nothing but destruction. The Fertile Crescent was turned into a land filled with
risk and chaos. In many ways the arms inspectors have merely been leading the way in exploring
the decay that Iraq became, and, indeed the corrupt systems that grew parasitically on Iraq as it
decayed.

Dynamic Vice Static Analysis. The goal of this report is to provide facts and meaning concerning
the Regime’s experience with WMD. It aims to provide a dynamic analysis rather than simple
static accounting of the debris found following Operation Iraqi Freedom. The report will put

into context the WMD activities of the Regime and the trends and directions of the Regime with
respect to WMD. Artificially separating the WMD from the Regime would not provide a syn-
thetic picture. Such a picture would seem to be more instructive than a simple frozen inventory of
the program remnants at one point in time.

Readers will draw their own conclusions about various national and international actions and
policies. This report will, hopefully, allow a more complete examination of these events by show-
ing the dynamics involved within the Regime and where it was headed as well as the status of the
WMD on the ground in 2003. The events surrounding Iraqgi WMD have caused too much turmoil
to be reduced to simple binary discussions of whether weapons existed at one moment in time



versus another. They deserve at least an attempt to look at the dynamics rather than a description
of a single frame of a movie. It deserves calculus not algebra. This report will deny the reader
any simple answers. It will seek to force broader and deeper understanding from multiple per-
spectives over time.

This report will also attempt to broaden-understanding by recalibrating the perspective of the
reader. The Regime was run by Saddam and the calculations he made concerning WMD were
based on his view of relevant related factors—not ours. Optimally, we would remove the reader
temporarily from his reality and time. We would collect the flow of images, sounds, feelings, and
events that passed into Saddam’s mind and project them as with a Zeiss Planetarium projection
instrument. The reader would see the Universe from Saddam’s point in space. Events would flow
by the reader as they flowed by Saddam.

Ideally, the reader would see what Saddam saw—not our.television pictures of him. Saddam saw
adulation in a crowd cheering him when he fired a rifle over their heads—not what we Western-
ers may see as a guy in a funny hat recklessly firing a weapon. Imagine Saddam’s window to the
outside world limited to television reports regularly reporting the statements by the President of
the United States about him. . . calling him a madman.

Imagine Saddam’s view of the fear/hate/confidence/idolatry in the eyes of his chosen ministers
and wonder if what they were saying was true or what they were not saying. How did he see the
reports of uprisings tentatively offered to him by underlings filled with fear. The reader could
see how various moves and pressures are either advancing or delaying greater achievement. The
reader could see the dubious quality of the data presented directly and through the reports of
underlings.

Such a transmutation is impossible. However, this report will provide the reader a handrail to
grasp in the form of a time line that will also serve as a constant reminder of contemporaneous
events that filled the field of Saddam’s view. The objective throughout this, perhaps unusual pre-
sentation, is to emphasize that WMD is always part and parcel of something else. The timeline is
a tool to collect significant events as they flowed past Saddam. Examining this flow shows inflec-
tion points where fundamental decisions were made concerning WMD. These will be addressed
in detail since they are moments when factors determining the course selected by Saddam can be
illuminated with some degree of confidence.

Expectations/Hidden Assumptions. Complicating understanding and analysis of the former
Regime’s WMD is the tendency to bring our own assumptions and logic to the examination of
the evidence. Western thought is filled with assumptions. Like the operating system of our com-
puters, we have logic and assumptions that are virtually builtin. We have been applying them
successfully so long in our own frame of reference that we forget they are present and shape our
thinking and conclusions. When considering the very different system that existed under the gov-
ernment of Saddam Hussein, there is a risk of not seeing the meaning and not seeing the implica-
tions of the evidence.

Analysts were asked to look for something they may not expect or be able to see. A challenge
like that faced by scientists engaged in the search for extraterrestrial intelligence. They have

to consider what evidence they might see that they could not recognize. They cannot expect to
detect radio transmissions like ours. Likewise, analysts here should not expect to find extensive
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government documents or parliamentary records reflecting Saddam’s decisions on WMD. The
Regime simply did not operate that way. An obvious corollary is that not finding such documents
is not meaningful one way or the other.

The Regime Was Saddam—and Saddam Is Different. The former Regime was Saddam, and
he was the one person who made important decisions. It was his assessment of the utility of
various policy options that was determinant. It was Saddam’s calculations of risk and timing that
mattered.

A corollary to this is that the relevance and importance of his top advisors and ministers is also
very different from that of similarly titled functionaries in other countries. The testimony of such
individuals is interesting, but must be understood for what it is in the Iraqi context. These indi-
viduals had a role and existence vastly different than in other countries.

Those around Saddam knew their future depended on their ability to divine what he wanted and
to be able to respond favorably to his requests. Those who survived knew how to relate in this
environment. This meant that they were often forced to anticipate what Saddam wanted because
they did not want to be in a position to have to say no.

Complicating their lives was the tendency of Saddam to hold his cards close while he allowed
minions to debate. Saddam did not lead by espousing detailed goals and objectives. He tended to
allow ideas to float up and he would consider them—often never pronouncing on them one way
or the other. This meant that much guidance to the government was implicit rather than explicit.
For investigators, a consequence is that forensic evidence of Presidential direction may not

exist, but it does not mean that such guidance was not there, but simply that we cannot see it in
the usual ways. Implicit guidance may exist and be of equal or greater importance than explicit
direction. This reality of life in Baghdad under Saddam has the consequence of diminishing the
ability to document governmental policies of directions.

Saddam’s Views. Debriefings of Saddam and those around him must be evaluated in this light.
There was no incentive and/or motivation for Saddam to cooperate with the debriefer, except to
shape his legacy. Saddam is concerned with his place in history and how history will view him.
Therefore, Saddam had no choice but to engage his debriefer in both formal and informal discus-
sions on events that'occurred during his reign.

The debriefing strategy was designed to elicit candid responses from Saddam, specifically
regarding his previous actions and reasoning without the benefit of incentives. These discussions
were conducted and controlled by one debriefer and spanned several months. Some vital insights
emerged during these discussions, which elicited views and information that may be considered
revelatory. Undoubtedly, Saddam will continue to take advantage of any opportunity to defend
his past actions and state his case while attempting to shape his legacy, very likely contradicting
previous statements and actions.

We have tried to sort through the data available and have tried to judge candid views from
Saddam on WMD as well as his likely vision of the future of Iraq and the role of WMD. What
seems clear is that WMD was a tool of power or leverage that varied in its utility in advancing
toward his goals for himself and Iraq.



In Saddam’s view, Iraq was the natural leader of the Arab world. Its people, history, and
resources combined with his leadership made it the inevitable leader in the region—perhaps not
without struggle, but struggle contributes to the overall glory. Saddam sees himself as the most
recent of the great Iraqi leaders like, Hammurabi, Nebuchadnezzar, and Saladin. In Babylon,
where Iraq was reconstructing the historical city, the bricks were molded with the phrase, “Made
in the era of Saddam Hussein”—mimigcking the-ancient bricks forged in ancient Babylon and
demonstrating his assumption that he will be similarly remembered over the millennia. This nar-
cissism characterizes his actions, and, while it is not always visible, it is always there.

Iran. Saddam sustained the historical Iraqi Arab animosity toward the Persians. His view on the
threat of Iran was not just a simple present day calculation, but includes the emotive content of a
sense of the long-standing rivalry over the centuries and his own desire to be seen as an historic
military leader. This was an important motivation in his views on WMD—especially as it became
obvious that Iran was pursuing the very capabilities he was denied. From Saddam’s viewpoint the
Persian menace loomed large and was a challenge to his place in history.

Gulf States. Saddam viewed the Gulf States as undeserving of the respect they were accorded in
the West. His Regime viewed the Gulf Arabs as undeserving. They simply enjoyed the geological
good fortune of sitting on large oil reserves. They did not earn respect; the West simply wanted
their oil. In particular, Saddam resented the Saudis. The Saudi position of leadership in OPEC
and by extension in the Western world rankled him. It was clearly an objective to supplant the
Saudi position of leadership in whatever way he could. He strove to undermine their influence in
the oil markets and the prestige they accrued through association with the United States.

United States. Saddam’s view of the United States was complicated. He accrued power and
prestige far beyond his inherent weight by positioning himself as the only leader to stand up to
the last superpower. To the extent that you assume some of the stature of your enemy, Saddam
derived prestige from being an enemy of the United States. Conversely, it would have been
equally prestigious for him to be an ally of the United States—and regular entreaties were made,
during the last decade to explore this alternative.

Saddam apparently calculated that Iraq’s natural resources, secular society, and dominance in

the region would inevitably force the United States to deal with Iraq (He may have been cor-
rect, but he mistakenly thought his leadership of Iraq was immutable.) Indeed, throughout the
1990s he tested Washington’s willingness to open a dialogue. On multiple occasions very senior
Iraqis close to the President made proposals through intermediaries (the author among others) for
dialogue with Washington. Baghdad offered flexibility on many issues, including offers to assist
in the Israel-Palestine conflict. Moreover, in informal discussions, senior officials allowed that,

if Iraq had a security relationship with the United States, it might be inclined to dispense with
WMD programs and/or ambitions.

Long View. Saddam’s perspective on the world and his place in history was naturally a very long
view. He had long timelines—certainly as compared with Western democracies, which are driven
by news and election cycles. He also had a strong sense of the glory of a long struggle. For exam-
ple, he romanticized his period of exile from Iraq following his participation in the failed assas-
sination attempt against Qasim. He accepts setbacks as noble challenges to be overcome.



Saddam refused to admit that Iraq lost the war in 1991. His diplomats were always quick to point
out that the resolution ending the war was a cease-fire agreement, not a peace treaty or capitula-
tion. This was not simply bombastic propaganda. Saddam saw it only as a temporary setback.
Indeed, Saddam displayed a remarkable ability to recover from this loss. Following the war in
1991, rebellions had broken out in all but two provinces. From this new nadir, Saddam restored
his internal power and control with speed and devastating efficiency—including another instance
of his use of chemical munitions once again. In the decade that followed, his struggle against
international constraints continued September 11, 2001.

Levers of Power/Prestige. Saddam conducted his confrontation with the United States on many
fronts. The main military front was the no-fly zone skirmishes. It must be said that, as much as
Saddam hated the intrusion over his airspace of American and British patrols (and, it may be
recalled, with the French initially participating as well), this was a battle he was fighting with

a very favorable exchange ratio. He cost the United States.a lot with almost no cost to himself,
and he could readily sustain the battle indefinitely. Again, this was a typically shrewd method of
exercising leverage.

Saddam believed Iraq and its people should be leaders in all ways—sciences, art, engineering,
military, economics, construction, etc. He supported the range of these functions, and in fact Iraq
had a well-funded education and health system during his early years before the disasters of war.
He aspired to the prestige associated with the advanced arts and sciences. In his view, the most
advanced and potent were nuclear science and technology: By all accounts, and by the evidence
of the massive effort expended by the Regime, nuclear programs were seen by Saddam as both

a powerful lever and symbol of prestige. He also did not want to be second to the Persians in
neighboring Iran.

Saddam has a remarkable sense for the use of power. For Saddam there was always a duality

to influence. He consistently applied both positive and negative currents in all aspects of his

rule. Reward and punishment'would be presented to the same subject to contrive the behavior

he desired. The approach was evident in his personal dealings with individuals as well as inter-
national relations. His staff would recount that he could have his immediate servants severely
punished or jailed for some infraction. Yet, later, they would be released and Saddam might cook
a meal for them himself.

Jail was frequently on the resume of even some of his higher ranking staff. For example, Presi-
dential Advisor and leader of the former Iraqi Nuclear Weapon program, Ja’far Dhia Ja’far, was
jailed by Saddam and released only when he agreed to work on the nuclear weapon program.

Saddam also, of course, rewarded handsomely those who supported him. New cars were a small
token of appreciation, which he dispensed.

The same duality of pressure and reward was used by Saddam internationally. For example, in
the spring and summer of 1995, Iraq attempted to bring to closure the disarmament inspections
of UNSCOM by offering a deal. UNSCOM experts had been pressuring Iraq to acknowledge an
offensive biological weapons program. Tariq Aziz informed UNSCOM Chairman Rolf Ekeus
that, if his upcoming June 1995 report to the Security Council was positive in the missile and
chemical weapons areas, then Iraq would “satisfy” Ekeus in the biological weapons area.



UNSCOM gave a sufficiently positive report on Iraq to the Security Council, and Aziz invited
Ekeus to Baghdad where he made a partial admission to having made biological weapons.
During the same time (in a 17 July national day address), Saddam gave a speech threatening to
end all cooperation with the Security Council unless the Council acted to fulfill its obligation
to lift the oil embargo. Days later, Baghdad even set a deadline for the Security Council to act.
Saddam regularly combined concessions with attempts at coercion.

This approach turned out badly for Iraq because only a few weeks later, Saddam’s son-in-law,
Husayn Kamil, defected to Jordan. He'had been the key Regime force in managing all WMD
programs, and his defection forced the Regime to reveal that Iraq had not been fully forthcoming,
thus undermining Iraq’s position and the position of Iraq’s key supporters in the Security Coun-
cil.

Security Threats Internally, it was always the case that, if Saddam perceived a challenge or a
potential risk among those around him, he would address it early and vigorously. Those around
him feared that he would know if they even thought of something that was less than fully sup-
portive of the Regime. Jailing, or worse, of those thought to be disloyal was commonplace. It was
not just an urban legend that, if someone became too popular or too powerful, he would quickly
be removed.

Externally, Saddam applied the same predilection to attack perceived threats preemptively.
Saddam acted against Iran when he thought he had the advantage. Saddam attacked Kuwait in
response to perceived economic aggression by Kuwait.

Saddam’s rule was driven first by security concerns. Suryival came first. This produced the mul-
tiple security organs, and their prime objective was protection of the leadership. It was natural
that the objectives of United Nations inspectors collided with the security apparatus. Inspections
aimed at deciphering the most sensitive weapons programs would transgress the security appara-
tus protecting the president. This was obvious and unavoidable if both objectives were pursued to
the maximum.

Saddam also encouraged'a multiplicity of reporting systems, formal and informal. Since no one
ever knew for sure how certain their position was, it bred anxiety and uncertainty even among the
longest serving Ministers. He fostered competition and distrust among those around him. There
was survival value'to him in this method of management. However, it greatly colored and con-
torted the perspectives of reality that his top aides had.

This method of management makes interpreting their descriptions of the inner workings of
Regime figures very difficult. They often did not know the truth. Hence, when they would
describe something that is wrong, it is difficult or impossible to know if they are purposely dis-
sembling. ISG investigators suffered some of the same problems as Saddam; not knowing if
senior advisors are telling the truth, or leaving out important facts.

Evidence. The problem of discerning WMD in Iraq is highlighted by the prewar misapprehen-
sions of weapons, which were not there. Distant technical analysts mistakenly identified evidence
and drew incorrect conclusions. There is also the potential of the obverse problem. Observers



may have evidence before them and not recognize it because of unfamiliarity with the subject.
Often ISG found no evidence of one thing or another. It may be that a more accurate formulation
might be we recognized no evidence. This is a fundamental conundrum in assessing alien cir-
cumstances.

It is vital to understand that in such an environment—an environment alien to those accustomed
to Western democracies—implicit guidance from the leader can be as compelling and real as
explicit guidance. Indeed, in the security-conscious world of Saddam, it would be surprising to
find explicit direction related to sensitive topics like WMD. This would especially be the case
for programs of presidential interest or direction. It is important to understand what one should
expect to see and what one should not expect to see.

Related to this is a further important factor that greatly affects how evidence is viewed. The key
Regime figures in the WMD area had a much better understanding of how the West viewed their
programs than the other way around. Consider how many Western technocrats studied in Bagh-
dad compared with how many key WMD figures studied in the West (many, if not most, speak
English).

Likewise, many years of inspections taught the Iragi WMD counterparts how their country was
being examined. It might well be expected that they would seek to elude such examination as a
result.

Two examples from interactions in the 1990s may be illustrative. An Iraqi minister in 1994
asked, “Why do you Americans always attack buildings?” Iraq, of course had been subject to
several bombing attacks, and the question seems simple on the surface. However, it reveals some-
thing about American assumptions. Intelligence analysts look at overhead imagery and identify
buildings with some function. Digital Imagery is also used for targeting weapons such as cruise
missiles. Implicit in this process is an assumption that destroying a building will destroy the
capability. Discussions and observations of the Iraqis showed that they reacted to this understand-
ing of the American process /by effectively dissolving the images we were focusing on. They
disassociated capability from the buildings we were able to image: To wit, they would simply
take key equipment and'move it out of buildings and disperse it in ways that we could not resolve
into our targeting and intelligence-operating system. This was shrewd but obvious. It affected the
data we were examining.

A second example of Iraq learning the signatures inspectors sought occurred while UNSCOM
was attempting to investigate the governmental apparatus the Regime used to conceal material
from UN inspectors. The inspectors assumed that only Saddam would give instructions on such
sensitive matters. Hence, inspectors investigated those governmental arms directly connected to
the Presidency, e.g., the Diwan, the Special Security Organization, the Special Republican Guard,
etc. In effect, the inspectors were modeling an organization chart that branched out from the
President. These organs became high-priority targets for the UN inspectors. This was perfectly
logical from their perspective.

Of course, one effect of this investigation was to teach the Iraqis how we investigated and what
we looked for. And, like the previous case where Iraq reacted by dissolving the image that we
looked for, it should be expected that Iraq would avoid using entities that would show up on
organization charts or that would follow the types of order we had earlier tried to picture.
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The Regime, drawing on the experience of the 1990s with the UN and given the priorities to
which it subscribed, scrambled the types of signatures they knew we would be searching for. This
contributed to the difficulty in verifying what happened to Iraq’s WMD.

The Timeline Tool. The role and use of WMD and how it played in Saddam’s calculations varied
over the last 30 years. This analysis includes.an examination of a few key inflection points when

Saddam made clear decisions regarding WMD. ISG analysts studied individual programs bearing
in mind contemporaneous events. A timeline annotated with the events that would have filled the
vision of Saddam is used as a device to continuously relate WMD to other changing factors.

Through this methodology an attempt is made to understand the overall intentions of the
Regime, i.e., Saddam. With this perspective a better understanding of the evidence of the ele-
ments of the WMD programs can be made. This is like having the picture on the box cover of a
jigsaw puzzle to guide the assembly of the component puzzle pieces.

Throughout this report, timeline sections are repeated to remind continuously the reader of the
events going on that impinge on Saddam’s field of vision.

Key Inflection Points. A few unique points in time shaped Saddam’s perspectives regarding
WMD after the 1991 Gulf war. However, it must be stated that Saddam’s experience with WMD
previously had been very positive. Senior Iraqis have said that it was their firm conviction that
the use of ballistic missiles and chemical munitions saved them in the war against Iran. Missiles
allowed them to hit Iranian cities, and chemical munitions (101,000 were used) countered the
Iranian “human wave” attacks.

In addition, the Iraqis believed that theirpossession and willingness to use WMD (CW and BW)
contributed substantially to deterring the United States from going to Baghdad in 1991. WMD
demonstrated its worth to Saddam. Moreover, senior Iraqis have observed that, if Saddam had
waited until he finished his nuclear weapon before invading Kuwait, the outcome would have
been much different.

Therefore, it was a tough.decision he faced when confronted by the UN resolution linking lift-
ing the of sanctions with WMD disarmament. Ultimately, his top priority (after survival) was to
get out of the UN constraints. That priority underlies the actions of the Regime during the past
13 years. This may seem obvious but is easily forgotten. The spring and summer of 1991 were
defining moments for Baghdad on this point.

During the first few inspections (June-July 1991), it became clear that the inspectors were more
serious and intrusive than Baghdad expected of the United Nations. Baghdad was still sur-
rounded by a huge array of military force that was fully capable of invading. Baghdad neverthe-
less initially chose to conceal WMD capabilities with a goal of preserving future WMD options.
Indeed, Iraq used CW against Shia within its own borders just two months earlier.

Baghdad was found blatantly cheating. The immediate consequence during this period was that
the UN Security Council, including the United States, did not restart the recently ended conflict
but did pass a new resolution on 15 August 1991 (UNSCR 707) demanding more access and
more intrusive rights for UN inspectors. The message was thus mixed. The UN Security Council
could agree on demands but not on enforcement. What was the impression received by Saddam?
He was clearly refusing cooperation with the UN resolutions. Saddam crushed internal dissent,
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including the use of chemical weapons, just as he did in the late 1980s. Yet, military force was
not used against him. However, more intrusive legal strictures were imposed. Saddam identified
the envelope of limits around him.

The Regime continued to mix compliance with defiance. It now appears clear that Saddam,
despite internal reluctance, particularly on-the part of the head of Iraq’s military industries,
Husayn Kamil, resolved to eliminate theexisting stocks of WMD weapons during the course of
the summer of 1991 in support of the prime objective of getting rid of sanctions. The goal was to
do enough to be able to argue that they had complied with UN requirements. Some production
capacity that Baghdad thought could be passed off as serving a civilian function was retained,
and no admission of biological weapons was made at all. But the clear prime theme of Saddam
was to defeat the UN constraints. Dispensing with WMD was a tactical retreat in his ongoing
struggle.

From the evidence available through the actions and statements of a range of Iraqis, it seems
clear that the guiding theme for WMD was to sustain the intellectual capacity achieved over so
many years at such a great cost and to be in a position to produce again with as short a lead
time as possible—within the vital constraint that no action should threaten the prime objective of
ending international sanctions and constraints.

Saddam continued to see the utility of WMD. He explained that he purposely gave an ambiguous
impression about possession as a deterrent to Iran. He gave explicit direction to maintain the
intellectual capabilities. As UN sanctions eroded there was'a concomitant expansion of activities
that could support full WMD reactivation. He directed that ballistic missile work continue that
would support long-range missile development. Virtually no senior Iraq; believed that Saddam
had forsaken WMD forever. Evidence suggests that, as resources became available and the con-
straints of sanctions decayed, there was a direct expansion of activity that would have the effect
of supporting future WMD reconstitution.

Yet, Saddam was not willing to give up sovereignty and security in an immediate gamble that the
UN Security Council would lift sanctions. Bearing in mind that at this very time, Saddam was in
a hugely weakened state domestically, still acting with defiance by retaining some capacity and,
at that time, refusingto accept certain UN resolutions, most notably UNSCR 707 and 715, which
demanded that Iraq accept a system of monitoring to detect a reconstitution of Iraqi WMD pro-
grams. This Saddam flat out refused as an invasion of his sovereignty that would be permanent,
not temporary.

1996 Beginning of Oil-for-Food. Another example of a key inflection point was the 1996 deci-
sion to accept the Oil-for-Food (OFF) program. Internally, Iraq was in trouble. The economy was
in tatters. The middle class was decimated by the collapse of the dinar and the impact of sanc-
tions. The hobbling of Saddam by the 1991 cease-fire resolution, UNSCR 687, was still persist-
ing despite vocal support of some members of the Security Council. Saddam had long refused

to accept the option of exporting oil with constraints on revenues. He was concerned that, once
started, the pressure on the Security Council to lift sanctions—his real goal—would be lifted.

It was clear he was using the pain endured by his people and the concern by some members of
the Security Council that sustaining civil destruction as pressure to get the Security Council to
remove the sanctions. However, by 1996, it became apparent that the United States had a lock in



the Security Council on lifting the sanctions and Saddam accepted UN Security Council Resolu-
tion 986 initiating the OFF program.

The onset of the OFF program began what became a burgeoning source of real disposable
income. The revenues Iraq garnered grew incredibly from an estimated $250 million in 1996 to
$2.76 billion in 2001. The process of oil‘exports offered leverage in the international oil markets.
The UN system for controlling Iraqi oil éxports had the unintended consequence of allowing
ample opportunities for corruption. Corruption of this process suited the objectives of Saddam of
escaping the fetters of the sanctions controlled by the UN Security Council.

As experience grew with the process of the Oil for Food program, Iraq found that the allocation
of oil liftings was also a splendid opportunity to develop influence. Iraqi oil liftings were priced
below market substantially; hence, obtaining the right to lift a tanker full of Iraqi oil was worth
a considerable amount of money. While Iraq, due to the eonstraints imposed upon it by the UN
system, could not legally receive cash, the price differentials could be pocketed by whatever
trader designated to lift Iraqi oil. Saddam, again demonstrating his style of influence, distributed
these allocations to those he deemed helpful in eroding support for sanctions.

Saddam applied a dual approach to this objective. On the one hand he emphasized the suffer-
ing of the innocent Iraqi civilian population and argued that the sanctions were immoral. At the
same time he gave prominent vocal Iraq supporters and willing influential UN-officials lucrative
oil allocations. He gave individuals a moral rationalization for their support and friendship to the
Regime. This worked with individuals as well as countries.

The Regime’s strategy was successful to the point where sitting members of the Security Council
were actively violating the resolutions passed by the Security Council.

1998—End of Inspections. The patience and utility of cooperating with the Security Council
and the UN inspectors were diminishing in the view of Baghdad during the course of 1998.

The potential of the inspection process leading to a formal lifting of sanctions by the Security
Council was seen as diminishing. The approach of eroding the constraints of sanctions until they
collapsed appeared more promising. Certainly the flow of imports and revenues was growing.
The divisions in the Security Council were greater between the United States and the United
Kingdom on one side and France and Russia on the other. (Irag encouraged competition between
France and Russiato do more to support Baghdad.)

At the same time, Baghdad viewed the domestic controversies in the United States as indicating,
if not weakness, certainly a distraction to the White House. During the summer of 1998, when
UNSCOM surfaced its concern over the evidence it found that Iraq had, contrary to its declara-
tions, weaponized VX in missile warheads, Baghdad appears to have concluded that there was no
prospect of satisfying the inspection teams. Cooperation with UNSCOM was seen as a trap, not a
path to ending sanctions.

Baghdad ended full cooperation in August and began a series of confrontations with the UN

that aimed at bringing its dialogue to the Secretary General and Security Council directly, and
marginalizing UNSCOM. Baghdad was largely successful in drawing the Secretary General into
the controversy and causing France and Russia to take firmer positions on its behalf. Ultimately,
Iraq did not fully cooperate with UNSCOM in a test period of renewed inspection activity during
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December 1998. The United States and United Kingdom reacted militarily with a circumscribed
bombing campaign that took place between the time President Clinton completed a previously
scheduled visit to Israel and the beginning of Ramadan, about four days later.

The Security Council was left deeply divided. UNSCOM and IAEA inspectors departed Iraq just
before the bombing and never returned. The Iraqis were satisfied with the outcome. They said,
given a choice of sanctions with inspections or sanctions without inspections, they would prefer
without.

The UN Security Council struggled for a year to find a new consensus on Iraq. Finally, after
much debate they passed a new resolution in December 1999 (UNSCR 1284). It included
(largely at Russian insistence) language about the suspension and ultimate lifting of sanctions.
Nevertheless, Iraq ignored its demands and also paid no further consequences. Clearly their strat-
egy was to erode sanctions, and they saw no need to accept a new set of inspectors.

2000—The End is in Sight. By 2000, the erosion of sanctions accelerated. The semi-annual
debates over the renewal of sanctions in the Security Council became the forum for Iraqi pro-
ponents to argue the case for relaxing sanctions further. Out of concern that this pillar of con-
tainment policy was about to collapse, the United States (under a new administration) proposed
“Smart Sanctions” in early 2001. This was an attempt to bolster support for sanctions within the
Security Council by narrowing the targeted items subject to scrutiny. There was a reversal of a
presumption of denial to a presumption of approval of items to be acquired under the Oil-For-
Food program.

Syria had recently signed an oil export protocol that provided for reopening of the Irag-Syria
pipeline. Initially, the United States tried to curtail this program, but failed. Baghdad could read
this turn of events only as growing momentum of its strategy to undermine sanctions with the
goal of an ultimate collapse.

The new administration in Washington gave no evidence of changing the approach toward Iraq.
The sanctions debate in the'Security Council in.June 2001 was indicative with the Russians
demanding further relaxation and a concrete signal from the Council that sanctions would be
lifted if Iraq satisfied the elements of UNSCR 1284. Deputy Prime Minister Tariq Aziz and the
new Foreign Minister, Naji Sabri, were making progress internationally. France, Russia, and
Syria (then a member of the Security Council) were all quite vocally supporting Iraq in sanctions
debates in the Security Council.

Prohibited goods and weapons were being shipped into Iraq with virtually no problem. The only
notable items stopped in this flow were some aluminum tubes, which became the center of debate
over the existence of a nuclear enrichment effortin Iraq. Major items had no trouble getting
across the border, including 380 liquid-fuel rocket engines. Indeed, Iraq was designing missile
systems with the assumption that sanctioned material would be readily available.

Politically, the Iraqis were losing their stigma. The Baghdad International Fair in November 2001
was attended by hundreds of companies. The Rasheed Hotel was filled with businessmen from
all over the world. The Arab summit in Beirut in March 2002 offered the headline photo of Taha
Yasin Ramadan embracing his Saudi counterpart. Funding filled the coffers of various ministries.
The Iraqi OPEC delegations were treated with as much or greater interest than the Saudis. The
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Oil Minister was treated like a rock star. The oil markets were extremely sensitive to the pros-
pects for Iraqi oil on the market. In fact, the very uncertainty about Iraqi oil gave Baghdad even
greater leverage over the international community since, by its whims, energy prices would vary
significantly and have corresponding effects on the world economy.

In international politics, Saddam capitalized on his position as the only Arab leader willing to
stand up to the Americans. This position undermined the positions of the leadership in neighbor-
ing countries like Saudi Arabia and Egypt. Their populations, being sympathetic to the Palestin-
ians, saw Saddam as bolder than their own leaders. By this stance, Saddam created a powerful
lever against these governments at virtually no cost.

From Baghdad the long struggle to outlast the containment policy of the United States imposed
through the UN sanctions seemed tantalizingly close. There was considerable commitment and
involvement on the part of states like Russia and Syria, who had developed economic and politi-
cal stakes in the success of the Regime. From Baghdad’s perspective, they had firm allies, and it
appeared the United States was in retreat. The United Nations mechanism to implement the Oil
For Food program was being corrupted and undermined. The collapse or removal of sanctions
was foreseeable. This goal, always foremost in Saddam’s eyes, was within reach.

11 September 2001 The progress Baghdad had made toward escaping sanctions changed follow-
ing 11 September 2001. Saddam did not immediately understand this.

Reflecting Saddam’s ill-formed understanding of the United States, Baghdad fully grasped
neither the effect of the attacks on the United States nor their implications for Iraq’s position

in the United Nations. The seriousness of the change in the international atmosphere and Iraq’s
diplomatic position became clear to Saddam only after President Bush’s 2002 State of the Union
speech. He saw a seriousness he had not earlier recognized. Still, he tried to bargain with the
Security Council rather than outright accept new inspections. The dithering cost him.

Washington was building a huge and expensive military force around Iraq. Efforts to secure
access and support for potential military action were pursued. In the Security Council a new,
tougher resolution was passed (UNSCR 1441). Momentum was building that would be increas-
ingly hard to deflect. Belatedly, following the speech by President Bush at the UN General
Assembly in September 2002, Saddam finally agreed to unconditional acceptance of the
UNMOVIC weapons inspectors.

The work of UNMOVIC inspectors on the ground was pursued energetically and in a charged
political environment. Iraq was surrounded by a large and expensive, military force. Sustain-
ing such a force for any length of time ' would be impossible. It was not a stable situation, and
Saddam realized his position far too late.

Readers of this report can weigh for themselves the actions taken by all governments in response
to Saddam and his WMD ambitions. It is a complicated story over a long period of time. Hope-
fully, this report will illuminate some of the important dynamics and the trends.

Charles Duelfer
Special Advisor to the Director of Central Intelligence
Baghdad, September 2004
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This report is the product of the hundreds of individuals who participated in the efforts of Iraq
Survey Group (ISG): The Australian, British, and American soldiers, analysts, and support per-
sonnel who filled its ranks. They carried out their roles with distinction, and their work reflects
creditably on the commitment of Washington, London, and Canberra to firmly support the mis-
sion throughout a long and difficult period.

Two of our colleagues gave their lives during ISG’s field inspections. On April 26, Sgt. Sherwood
R. Baker and Sgt. Lawrence A. Roukey died while providing security for one of the most critical
ISG investigations when an explosion destroyed the facility being inspected. Their memory has
been present throughout the creation of this report.

The analysts and case officers who came to Iraq, most for the first time, worked hard to develop
the information to support this report. They labored long hours to develop intelligence reports
and the text that became this report, a difficult task to which they responded with enthusiasm.

This report also builds upon the work of a broader universe of people who have striven to under-
stand the role of Weapons of Mass Destruction in Iraq during the past decade or more. United
Nations inspectors and analysts around the world have wrestled with this issue trying to sort out
reality and develop policies to mitigate suffering and avoid conflict. Hopefully this report will
provide some answers or at least more data for constructive review.

Mention must be made of the Iraqis themselves. It is important for an outsider to understand
fully the dilemmas encountered and choices made by individuals under the former Regime, many
of them energetic and brilliant people who participated in the programs and decisions addressed
here. ISG analysts have spoken with many of them—both in detention and free. Some have tried
to help us understand what happened; others were too fearful to help. Still others had many rea-
sons to reveal as little as possible. Nevertheless, I hope that the characterization of events offered
here will be seen as a fair representation by those who are, after all, the real experts, the Iraqi
participants.

The tragedy of Iraq is perhaps best seen on the individual level. I have known many of their most
senior technocrats and political leaders for over a decade. I have spent hours with them in meet-
ings trying to unravel circumstances and events. We have met in large government offices, the
Untied Nations, in laboratories and now in jails or tents. They are some of the best and bright-
est the country has produced. How they dealt with the moral dilemmas of pursuing careers in

a Regime like Saddam’s is difficult to understand. Some clearly did so with relish and happily
reaped the rewards that were bestowed. Others, with better intentions, had limited options, given
the nature of the Regime. Through the accident of birth, they were placed in circumstances most
of us are never tested by.



The new Iraq could benefit from the talents of some of these technocrats. The new Iraq should
seek recompense from some others who profited from the promotion of the worst deeds of the
Regime. Readers of the procurement and finance section of the report will gain some apprecia-
tion of how rewards were dispensed.

Many Iraqis over many years tried hard to explain Iraq and these programs to me. This was not
easy for them and carried substantial risk. I am grateful to them beyond words.

The intelligence services of three nations supported ISG, a long and demanding task. In the
United Kingdom, mention must be made of SIS and the Defense Intelligence Service (especially
the Rockingham group) for their long support. In the United States, both the Defense Intelligence
Agency and Central Intelligence Agency sustained the process at substantial cost. Australia pro-
vided some of the best intelligence analysts anywhere. While these institutions expressed interest
in the finding and certainly were curious where their pre-war assessments went wrong, they did
not try to steer in any way the judgments included here.

In the end, this is not an Intelligence Community product. Rather, it is my independent judgment
as the Special Advisor to the Director of Central Intelligence on Iraqi WMD. I have had the assis-
tance of many people, but I chose the directions and methodologies, which are not typical of the
intelligence community. Yet, in future decisions, I chose the frame of reference outlined. Where
there were decisions to be made on interpretation or judgment, they are mine.

This will not be the last word on the Iraqi experience with WMD. Many may argue with the
interpretation given here. To further that public debate, and in the interest of the historian to
whom this subject is likely to be of considerable interest, I have been firmly committed to
making this report unclassified. I have also opted on the side of inclusion of material — even if
sensitive for one reason or another — rather than exclusion. The data can be interpreted by others,
now and in the future, to form their own judgments.

Lastly, I offer my thanks to former DCI George Tenet who offered me the opportunity to pursue
this endeavor. I was given neither guidance nor constraints, and tasked only to find the truth. I
have tried to do that.

Charles Duelfer
Special Advisor to the Director of Central Intelligence
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Scope Note

This report relays Iraq Survey Group’s findings from its creation in June 2003 until September
2004 and provides context and analysis to ISG’s physical findings. It also attempts to place the
events in their Political-Military context. For the purposes of this report, the term Weapons of
Mass Destruction (WMD) refers to the definition established by the United Nations Security
Council in the context of UN Security Council Resolution 687 (1991).

The United States’ investigation of Iraqgi WMD activities began during Operation Iraqi Freedom
itself. In prewar planning, it was assumed chemical and possibly biological stocks were likely

to be encountered and perhaps employed. Forces were equipped with protective equipment. A
military unit designated Expeditionary Task Force-75 (XTF-75) was deployed during the war to
investigate suspected locations for WMD stocks. Many sites were inspected but with an aim of
discovering WMD, not inspecting and developing an analytical assessment of the Iraqi programs.
Wartime conditions prevailed with concern about force protection primary. The work of XTF-75
was therefore aimed at discovery of possible WMD locations (to eliminate a threat), not the com-
pilation of evidence to build a picture of what happened to the weapons and programs.

This early approach, perhaps logical if the goal was simply to find hidden weapons, undermined
the subsequent approach of piecing together the evidence of the Iraqi WMD programs such

as they existed. In fact, combined with the chaos of the war and the widespread looting in the
immediate aftermath of the conflict, it resulted in the loss of a great amount of potentially very
valuable information and material for constructing a full picture of Iraqi WMD capabilities. Sites
were looted. Documents were either ignored or collected haphazardly or burned by either the
Regime or Coalition forces.

To begin a more systematic collection of evidence to build an understanding of Iraqi WMD
programs, DOD stood up ISG under the military command of Major General Keith Dayton. He
brought together a unique blend of collection, analytic, and force maneuver assets to conduct
both the ongoing WMD investigation and secondary tasks that included counterterrorism and the
search for Captain Scott Speicher, a US Navy pilot shot down in 1991 during Desert Storm. Ele-
ments of ISG included:

Analytic Staff—Experts in the functional areas of Iraqgi WMD from the CIA, DIA, DOE, State,
DOD, as well as United Kingdom and Australia gathered and analyzed data to develop a picture
of Iraq’s WMD program and plan further collection. Several participants were former United
Nations inspectors with long experience in Iraq.

Documentation Exploitation—A forward linguistic element in Baghdad (approximately 190)
identifies documents of immediate importance from the millions recovered in the course of the
war and occupation. A large facility housing more than 900 staff members in Qatar recorded,
summarized, and translated documents. At the time of this writing, this facility houses about 36
million pages that have been scanned into a database. Roughly a third of these—all that appeared
of direct relevance to ISG’s mission—have been examined by a linguist and a gist prepared.

Recently, ISG obtained about 20,000 boxes of additional documents, which had been stored in
Coalition-occupied buildings. Many of these documents are from the Iraqi Intelligence Service



and the Baath party. This is a volume roughly equivalent to the total received to date—a huge
infusion. Triage of these documents will probably take several months. New information will
inevitably derive from this process, but may not materially affect the overall elements of this
report.

Interrogation and Debriefing—ISG had dedicated linguists and debriefers for the so-called High
Value Detainees. Statements by former key players in the Regime formed an important informa-
tion source, but must be evaluated very cautiously since the prospect of prosecution inevitably
affected what they said. It is also important to understand that the population of senior detainees
held at the Camp Cropper facility interacted freely among themselves. They could consult on
what they were asked, and the pressures and tensions among detainees over cooperation with
ISG certainly affected their candor. In addition, debriefers were not experts in the field of Iraq or
WMD as a general rule. ISG compensated by having subject matter experts present as often as
possible.

* Technical Analysts—Two laboratories, one British and one American, analyzed materials sus-
pected of being related to WMD. Samples included nerve agent rounds, mustard shells, and a
wide range of dangerous chemical substances.

* Explosive Ordnance Disposal—A team was always on hand to deal with unexploded ordnance
hazards—a regular feature of the Iraqi landscape

* Movement Forces—A collection of teams to provide transportation and protection for ISG
investigators.

e HUMINT Collection Teams—Case officers to establish connections to individuals useful to the
investigation of WMD infrastructure, security, and other support.

* Support Staff—Base security, logistics, communications, computers, housing, food, etc.

» National Geospatial Agency and National Security Agency representatives were also a part of
ISG to bring analytic and technical collection assistance to the investigation.

The Director of Central Intelligence provided additional analytic and collection support and
named a senior Special Advisor for Iraqi WMD to provide direction to the overall effort. David
Kay was the first Advisor, serving in Iraq from June until December 2003. Under his direction,
ISG began a systematic survey and examination of the existence and location of WMD capabili-
ties. Dr. Kay provided an initial report to the DCI in September 2003 on the early findings of the
investigation. Under his leadership, ISG interviewed many key participants in the WMD pro-
grams, undertook site visits, and began the review of captured documents. Under Dr. Kay, ISG
focused on leads from Iraqi sources, documents, and physical evidence. Dr. Kay believed that, if
ISG were to find any WMD in Iraq, the Iraqis would probably have to lead ISG to it.

Work in Iraq was very difficult. Contrary to expectations, ISG’s ability to gather information was
in most ways more limited than was that of United Nations inspectors. First, many sites had been
reduced to rubble either by the war or subsequent looting. The coalition did not have the man-



power to secure the various sites thought to be associated with WMD. Hence, as a military unit
moved through an area, possible WMD sites might have been examined, but they were left soon
after. Looters often destroyed the sites once they were abandoned.

A second difficulty was the lack of incentive for WMD program participants to speak with ISG
investigators. On the one hand, those who cooperated risked retribution from former Regime
supporters for appearing to assist the occupying power. On the other hand, there was substantial
risk that the Coalition would incarcerate these individuals. Hence, for the most part, individu-
als related to Iraqgi WMD tried to avoid being found. Even long after the war, many Iraqi scien-
tists and engineers find little incentive to speak candidly about the WMD efforts of the previous
Regime. This is exacerbated by their life-long experience of living with the threat of horrible
punishment for speaking candidly.

The third constraint was the growing risk from the insurgency. From roughly November 2003
onward, it was very difficult to simply travel to points of interest by investigators. Armored cars
and protection by military units were required. Many ISG armored vehicles were damaged or
destroyed by hostile fire or improvised explosive devices, and two military personnel lost their
lives assisting the investigation, SGT Sherwood R. Baker and SGT Lawrence A. Roukey.

A fourth hurdle was that, given the difficult conditions existing in Iraq, many individuals had
little interest in remaining in Iraq for a lengthy time, and typically an analyst would come to ISG
for only a couple of months, which produced great inefficiencies: Individuals would become
familiar with certain Iraqi issues and then depart. Many detainees were interviewed multiple
times by a number of analysts seeking answers to the same question. The only ISG member who
was present from the beginning until the drafting of this report was the ISG Chaplain.

Despite these obstacles, a core of knowledge was built, and some long-term Iraqi experts became
key members of the ISG team. Several were former UN inspectors with over a decade of experi-
ence with the Iraqi WMD programs and, indeed, the Iraqi participants in WMD programs. Their
background and knowledge were invaluable. For example, it is much more difficult (though still
quite possible) for Iraqis to deceive investigators they had known for 10 years or more. At any
given time, ISG staff included approximately 15 to 20 [raqg WMD experts, though as time went
on, it became more difficult to retain a truly expert cadre.

A timeline methodology was used to integrate key elements of the analysis and to assist the
building of the corporate knowledge base. Through regular meetings of all functional teams,
analysis of the range of events that interacted with respect to WMD was conducted. This work
was much aided by the regular participation of Saddam’s debriefer. Relevant data points were
identified and manipulated on a timeline tool, and major inflection points that related to Saddam
and WMD were established. These were then used by teams, especially the Regime Strategic
Intent team, to cue further analysis and to develop their respective portions of the report.

Looking to the future, there will continue to be reports of WMD-related material that must be
addressed. Virtually every week some WMD-related report—often involving the delivery of
items thought to be WMD-related—is received and investigated by ISG. This is a continuous task
that often requires the removal of dangerous objects (like mortar rounds or dangerous chemicals).
This element of ISG work accounts for much of the effort of many of the staff during the past

18 months. The necessary investigation of all reasonable leads has led to dozens of missions that
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have been important, though they have found no significant stocks of WMD. Such missions have
included, for example, extensive underwater searches using sophisticated sensor equipment in
Iraqi lakes and rivers.

Since there remains the possibility (though small) of remaining WMD, such reports will continue
to be evaluated and investigated as judged necessary.

Sources of Information

Iraqi detainees were a major source of information. Many WMD-associated figures have been
detained at Camp Cropper where the so-called high-value detainees are incarcerated. Analysts
questioned them repeatedly about aspects of the program and Regime decisionmaking. Their
answers form a large part of the data ISG has used in this report, but must be considered for what
they are. These individuals have had long experience living under a severe Regime that imposed
harsh consequences for revealing state secrets and have no way of knowing what will happen to
them when they get out. Certainly there are strong Regime supporters among the Camp Cropper
population. The word inevitably circulates among them who is cooperative and who is not. Once
released, such detainees may fear for their lives from Regime supporters.

Another consideration is that many senior Regime figures are concerned about prosecution and
will shape their tales to serve their interests. There is a tendency, for example, to blame the dead
guy—for example Saddam’s son Qusay or son-in-law and former top weapons development
manager, Husayn Kamil.

On the other hand, some of these individuals have been long-term technocrats with no particular
love of the Regime. Of these, some have been quite helpful, particularly with former inspectors
whom they have known well over the years. Nevertheless, it must also be remembered that their
perspectives, even if honestly conveyed, may not reflect the views of the Regime leadership. It
has also been the case that with the Regime’s hypersecurity measures, compartmentalization was
quite extensive. For example, many very senior Iraqis did not know whether Iraq had WMD or
not before the war.

The documentation that ISG has accumulated is extensive. It has yielded important nuggets,
which pop out as linguists make their way though the massive amount of material. The mag-
nitude of the task is huge and complicated by the potential of errors in transliteration or in the
original documents. Since it is impossible to forecast when relevant documents will be found in
this largely unordered collection, it may well be that documents or electronic media may emerge
that could significantly add to the themes and background presented here.

A vital part of the picture of how the Regime proceeded with respect to UN sanctions is illus-
trated in its implementation of the Oil for Food program. We received much detailed information
from the Iraqi Oil Ministry, State Oil Marketing Organization, and individual participants. The
data presented here are intended only to demonstrate the tactics and strategy of the Regime. Iraq
sought to influence these data links to many countries and individuals. This report stops at that
point. The report does not intend to analyze or assess the implications for non-Iraqis. Participa-
tion in Iraq’s voucher system may have been perfectly legal and appropriate depending upon the
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circumstances. Others are charged with investigating these transactions. What is clear is that the
Regime sought to reward and influence using this tool.

Physical inspection of sites has been pursued to the extent possible. This is a dangerous activity
under the circumstances of 2004: We had two fatalities, and ISG teams have been shot at many
times with some serious injuries. Many armored cars have been destroyed in attacks. This has
made site investigations more difficult.

Moreover, many locations associated with the previous WMD programs and sites under monitor-
ing by the United Nations have been completely looted. In fact, the sites that filled the database
of monitored locations are radically different postwar. Equipment and material in the majority
of locations have been removed or ruined. Often there is nothing but a concrete slab at locations
where once stood plants or laboratories.

A final consideration of the work of ISG concerns the return of sovereignty to Iraq. Since 28 June
2004, Iraq has been responsible for its own territory, and that includes matters associated with
WMD questions. ISG has been consulting with the Interim Iraqi Government (IIG) concerning its
work. Gradually, more cooperation in investigatory work can take place. It is a natural transition
of responsibility and knowledge to the new government.

WMD concerns are not merely of historic interest. ISG chemical weapons (CW) and counter-
terrorism experts uncovered and tracked down an active insurgent group that had been using
former Regime CW experts to attempt to create and use CW for use against the Coalition. This
was dubbed the Al Abud network after the location of the first raid where insurgents were found
attempting to acquire ricin. A very aggressive investigation by ISG and a series of raids have
apparently been successful in containing this threat. This has been a major success, but will
require sustained attention by both Coalition and IIG since terrorists have long demonstrated an
intention to obtain WMD and use it. This could occur inside or outside Iraq.

While the future size and direction of the Iraq Survey Group are currently under review, the
requirement remains to collect further information related to threats posed by residual elements of
the former Regime’s WMD programs. There will also be new information from individuals and
sources, which will come to light. Moreover, certain defined questions remain unanswered. For
example, we cannot express a firm view on the possibility that WMD elements were relocated out
of Iraq prior to the war. Reports of such actions exist, but we have not yet been able to investigate
this possibility thoroughly. Likewise, there remains some uncertainty concerning reports of mobile
BW capabilities—though we have conducted an extensive investigation and we have a paucity of
confirmatory information, there is still some possibility that such a capability did exist.

As new information becomes available and is analyzed and assembled into meaningful packages,
further unclassified additions to this report may be issued.

This report addresses the actions and considerations of the Regime until it fell in April 2003. It
attempts to show the WMD programs and their context. It combines analysis of both physical
evidence and an examination of the considerations of the Regime leadership with regard to WMD.
The report is not intended to be predictive but should provide data from which others may con-
sider such questions and indeed, consider implications for other circumstances elsewhere.








